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In a letter to Mussolini of October 10, 1933, relating 
about the works at the university campus, Rector 
Alfredo Rocco expresses his concern about the delays 
and the very high costs of such a huge project. Beside 
expropriations and foundations, both much more ex-
pensive than expected, a main reason of the increase 
of the construction costs is furniture. Deans and 
professors ask for more and more interior equipment, 
especially for the scientific institutes. «The problem of 
the furniture, perhaps not sufficiently evaluated when 
the estimate was made, deserves the greatest atten-
tion», states Rector Rocco (ACS_dcm_16). Yet, ten 
days later, the University Board of Governors approves 
an estimate that does not include expenses for fur-
nishings (ASS_dcm_46). 

Within this context, the construction of the School 
of Mathematics seems to start without any explicit 
mention of furniture, until May 1935 when the sum 
allocated for the furnishings amounts to 730.000 lire, 
of which 250.000 lire for students’ desks - which had 
already been ordered - 280.000 lire for the library, 
52.000 lire for the drawing tables and 148.000 for 
‘common furnishings’, not yet commissioned. This 
list is followed by a short note about the delay in the 
construction of the building and the promise to end by 
October, if the furniture will be ordered by the month 
of July (ASS_dcm_53).

As the interior doors were closely related to the con-
struction, their order was slightly advanced: most of 
them were commissioned to the company Curti (me-
tallic doors of the corridors) on June 4, 1935 and to 
the company Cantieri Milanesi before August 2, 1935 
(wooden doors) . 

Despite what written in May, the first specific mention 
of furniture dates September 9, 1935 and concerns 
the rows of curved desks for the Tower of classrooms 
(Figure 1) and bookshelves on the balconies in the 
library (ASS_dcm_72). The desks, completed with 
seats, were ordered to the company Liporesi, that had 
already provided a similar model for the buildings of 
Letters and Law, where the desks were however are 
not curved. Even if the bowed shape required more 
work, the Administration obtained the same price, 
but Ponti asked to further modify the height of the 
backrest, from 27 to 34 centimetres; consequently, 
the company increased the cost of each item of 143 
lire33. Similarly, the architect proposed further varia-
tions concerning the bookshelves and the balconies’ 
handrails, commissioned to the company Parma. Not 
surprisingly, these are fixed furnishings, strongly inte-
grated with the architectural design and Ponti intend-
ed to maintain complete control on each detail. 

On October 1, 1935 the company Santi was commit-
ted with the production of the well-known system 
of teachers’ desks, which integrated footboards and 
blackboards, destined to the classrooms of the front 
building and to the tiered lecture halls of the Tower of 
classrooms (Figure 2). Santi also provided the foot-
boards for the drawing classrooms, the huge tables 
of the library reading room and several other minor 
woodworks (ASS_dcm_84). At the same date, the 
company Gaggiottini obtained the order for pieces in 
Anticorodal, an autarchic light alloy based on alumin-
ium, silicon, manganese, and magnesium, character-
ised by good resistance to atmospheric agents. These 
were doorframes and noticeboards, handrails for the 
staircase in the front building, and the letters to com-
pose the writing “Scuola di Matematica” on the main 
façade (ASS_dcm_82). Nine days later the company 
Palazzo della Luce was committed with the supply 
of lighting fixture for several building of the campus, 
including the School of Mathematics, yet without spe-
cific details (ASS_dcm_85), while the company Parma 
offered a supplementary estimate for library balco-
nies and shelves, which included the modifications 

required by Ponti (ASS_dcm_91). In November the 
lighting fixtures specifically conceived for the library, 
fixed on the reading tables and on the shelves, and 
those for the Tower of classrooms were ordered to 
the company S.A.A.R., which also assured much of the 
electrical works in the building (ASS_dcm_95).

Notwithstanding, the furniture of the School of Math-
ematics was not complete on the day of the inaugura-
tion, October 31, 1935, as the main supplies of fur-
nishings date back to 1936 (Nicoloso 2018a, p. 182)34. 
On January 20, 1936 the company Beltrami obtained 
a new important order concerning the desks for the 

* Chiara Turco has also contributed to this part of the 
research

Figure 1 - The rows of curved desks in the tiered lecture hall 
at the second floor of the Tower of classrooms (© Salvo 
2021)

Figure 2 - The system that assembles teacher’s desk / railing 
/ footboard / blackboard and wooden wall covering  of the 
right tiered lecture hall at the ground floor of the tower (© 
Bardati 2020).

FURNITURE AND INTERIORS,
A NEVER-ENDING STORY 

Flaminia Bardati *
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three classrooms located at the ground floor of the 
Front building, the drawing tables and two types of 
stools for the classrooms of the curved wings and the 
complete furnishing for thirteen professors’ offices 
(ASS_dcm_112). The desks were similar to those sup-
plied for the buildings of Physics, Hygiene and Ortho-
paedics, ordered on catalogue: the model “Milano”, 
in chromed steel tube, polished oak and Linoleum, 
for two people, complete of seats. With the exception 
of the last rows, each table served as the front seat 
backrest (Figure 3). Of the 72 desks ordered to Beltra-
mi on this occasion, only 31 items survive today in the 
teaching rooms where they were originally located. 
112 drawing boards, complete of stools and 24 high 
stools for the plaster models were not as lucky, as they 
have all gone lost during the transformations suffered 
by the curved wings, fragmented into offices,  and 
classrooms.

The furniture for the professors’ offices located at the 
first floor of the front building included one desk, a 
small wooden armchair, a rack, a small, squared table 
and an office cabinet, with closets and open book-
shelves. But, as witnessed by further documents, four 
professors – namely Bompiani, Enriquez, Levi Civita 
and Picone - requested bigger office cabinets, long as 
the longer wall in the room (ASS_drw_97, 98, 125 and 
126); of these only three small tables and three racks 
have survived.

In addition to the supply obtained for the library, 
8 reading tables and 196 chairs “Model 14” were 
asked to the company Parma on January 28, 1936 
(ASS_dcm_115). On February 24, 1936 a report of the 
Technical Office underlines the delays suffered by the 
supply of furnishing for the Institute of Mathematics, 
pointing out the numerous requests raised by the 
professors and the necessity to order new items (ASS_
dcm_125). Therefore, at the same date, the compa-
nies Santi and Beltrami were solicited for several other 
supplies: Santi for closets and shelves for the drawing 
classrooms, the professors’ lobby and for some of-
fices; Beltrami for the furnishing of the council hall, 

originally located at the first floor of the front building 
(ASS_dcm_126). Two huge tables and a small one, 19 
armchairs, a canapé and a bookshelf were the main 
items that furnished the room, but at present only six 
armchairs survive, modified (Figure 4). 

By the end of 1936 most of the rooms were furnished, 
including the lighting fixtures and some detail ele-
ments, such as curtains and doormats. Nevertheless, 
some supplies were delivered - or paid - during 1937 
when other orders had been completed, concerning 
closets for the professors’ offices near the drawing 
classrooms and the mentioned modified closets for 
professors Enriquez, Levi Civita and Picone. Further-
more, some a specific treatment was needed after 
delivery, as in the case of the Linoleum footboards of 
the single systems “footboard + blackboard + teachers’ 
desk” in the classrooms of the front building and of 
the tower (ASS_dcm_182).

In April 1938, the entire furnishing is delivered, and all 
companies fully paid, but the story has not yet come 
to an end. As the Royal National Institute of Higher 
Mathematics, IndAM, is founded on July 13, 1939, the 
need to supply offices and study spaces is again raised. 
The upper drawing classroom of the west curved 
wing was chosen as the headquarter of the Institute, 
fragmented into several little rooms. On this occasion 
15 new doors were purchased, made on the original 
models “B2”, “C”, “D” and “E” supplied by the compa-
ny Cantieri Milanesi, as specified in the contract. No 
news is given nor of the original furnishings, probably 
moved in the other drawing classrooms, neither of 
the new items ordered for the IndAM, which today 
conserves nothing of the facies datable to 1939-1940, 
except for a big blackboard that belonged to the 
pre-existing drawing classroom. However, it is possible 
that some of the existing chairs and armchairs located 
in other parts of the building, and whose shape, ma-
terials and manufacture could date to the end of the 
1930s, had been ordered for this Institute. 

Figure 3 - Two-seater desks of the model “Milano” in one of 
the classrooms at the ground floor of the front building (© 
Bardati 2020)

Figure 4 - Armchair originally supplied for the Council Hall, 
currently in a professor studio of the east wing; the 
“Marocchino” red original covering has been modified 
(© Bardati 2020)
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When Mussolini visited the IndAM on April 15, 1940, 
his official speech was given in the tiered lecture halls 
at the first floor of the Tower of classroom, the only 
hat could offer a seat to a large audience. The railing 
and desk were removed from the footboard and sub-
stituted by a large rectangular table, which probably 
belonged to IndAM (ASL_vdo_17).

Unfortunately, the air raid on San Lorenzo on July 19, 
1943 that hit the campus and damaged thoroughly 
the stained glass-window on the front façade, and all 
glazing of the windows of the building, probably also 
left traces on the furniture. 

A report concerning the campus estimates the dam-
ages to around 2.631.000 lire (ASS_dcm_228), while 
Vincenzo Fasolo, Director of the Institute of Draw-
ing, reported that 100 drawing tables and 50 stools 
with their plaster models were also damaged (ASS_
dcm_227). He also noted that it was impossible to 
give any other clarification but his personal deposition 
because the furniture was not inventoried. Frances-
co Severi, director of IndAM, had in fact previously 
presented a complaint related to the disappearance 
of several objects after the allied troops had occupied 
the seat, among which an important typewriter Olivet-
ti. He wrote that some furnishings had been dam-
aged and needed repair, for the sum of 20.000 lire, 
but without offering further details (ACS_dcm_35). It 
must be said that during the occupation of the allied 
troops within the premises of the campus, furniture 
- especially chairs, armchairs, and tables - may have 
been moved from the School of Mathematics to other 
Institutes and vice-versa and it is possible that other 
pieces entered the building in the post-war years. Yet, 
at this stage of our research no document allows to 
identify them .

Further uncertainty regards information concerning 
furniture gained (and lost) during the second half of 
the twentieth century. The leitmotiv of this period is a 
chronic lack of space for teaching, research (especially 
concerning the laboratory for the huge data process-

ing machines) and professors’ offices. As well known, 
the need of space determined a series of dramatic 
transformations that modified the building, which has 
lost its original shape and important functions. These 
transformations entrained the shift of furnishings and 
doors, sometimes their loss, and the insertion of new 
items.

Two doors inspired on the original type “C” by Cantieri 
Milanesi are datable to 1954, when the professors’ 
lobby in the front building was transformed into two 
offices (Salvo 2015). It was certainly necessary to pur-

chase furnishings for these studios, but there are no 
traces of supplies, as in the case of the original furni-
ture of the lobby and the wall lighting fixtures of the 
same type and dimensions of those still existing in the 
library (Figure 5).

During the students’ protests of 1968, chairs and arm-
chairs similar to those that in the School of Mathemat-
ics were photographed by Rodrigo Pais in the entrance 
of the Institute of Letters (BUB_pht_10, BUB_pht_11), 
while several desks of the “Milano” model (BUB_
pht_03) are portrayed in the same place or perhaps in 

Figure 5 - Four of the original six wall lights of the library, 
supplied by the firm Bianchi in 1935 (© Sardo 2021)
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that of the Institute of Law (which is semisymmetric). 
Again, thanks to Pais’s documentation, we have evi-
dence of a table similar to those of the library reading 
room, used to build barricades in the corridor connect-
ing the building of Law and that of Political Sciences 
(BUB_pht_08, BUB_pht_ 09). Since same companies 
had been employed to furnish most of the Institutes, 
it is very difficult to determine if the furnishing por-
trayed in these pictures belonged to Mathematics, or 
if it was shifted to the building once order has been 
restored.
However, the works to enlarge the building of Math-
ematics and the renting of some rooms in the seat in 
via Vicenza undoubtedly mark the beginning of a new 
phase of furniture supplies. Six offices were obtained 
in the new additions flanking the front building, which 
needed new furnishings, but no document allows to 
pair them with the present objects in the same rooms. 
New supplies were necessary also for the classrooms 
in via Vicenza, where on July 17, 1970 some chairs had 
been delivered, while most of the furnishings was still 
to be ordered (ASS_dcm_268). We have no drawing or 
picture showing shape and materials of these chairs.

Despite the rent of the seat in via Vicenza, in the 
1970s the lack of room for teaching and, most of all, 
for the offices, determined the choice to subdivide 
the drawing classrooms of the Institute of Drawing in 
the curved wings. The original furniture of the draw-
ing classrooms went completely lost on this occasion, 
together with 22 wall lighting fixtures of the ground 
floor corridor, purchased from the firm Bianchi (ASS_
dcm_159). They are visible in the shooting by the 
Istituto Nazionale Luce during the visit of the Libyan 
notables in 1936 and in the pictures taken of the new-
ly completed building.

Without going into the details of the bureaucratic 
slowness that characterised the transformation of 
the building, neglecting the historical-critical assess-
ment about the legitimacy of such interventions, it is 
important to fix some reference points regarding the 
purchase of new furniture and doors in these years. 

A decision of the University Board of Governors of May 
28, 1976 does not mention furniture (ASS_dcm_283). 
In June 1978 the first floor of the east wing, divided 
into professors’ and staff’s offices, is ready for use, 
such that doors and furnishings should be in place, 
while the works at the ground floor of the west wing 
are over but no furniture has been supplied. Docu-
ments offer no detail about type and shape of furni-
ture. The works concerning the ground floor of the 
east wing, where five classrooms were being set up, 
were starting and the Works Committee of the School 
of Mathematics considered the furniture a dramatic 
problem (ADM_dcm_01). An estimate of the costs 
dating December 26, 1979 lists several works including 
the supply of new doors, again copying the models of 
the original doors originally supplied by the firm Cant-
ieri Milanesi, using only pitch-pine or fir for the doors 
and oak for the frames (ASS_dcm_288). Only two 
documents mention a supply of blackboards (ASS_
dcm_290) and of lighting fixtures (ASS_dcm_300). 

The 1980s began with a message of the Rector Ru-
berti, announcing that from July 1981 the ordinary 
upkeep of the campus (buildings and furniture) would 
have been entrusted to the Consorzio Artigiani Uni-
versitari (ASS_dcm_301). Together with the cease 
of the contract with via Vicenza and the transfer of 
many professors to new offices, such new modality of 
upkeep shuffled the cards in the shift of furniture with-
in the buildings: above all, repair and maintenance 
interventions have profoundly altered the appearance 
of the pieces. 

Finally, compliance to safety rules and the insertion 
of technological devices are still today perpetuating 
the undaunted decay of the original and quasi-original 
furniture pieces. And the story is not yet over, unfortu-
nately.



367

Martina Attenni
Architect and PhD, is adjunct professor since 2019 at the Depart-
ment of History, Representation and Restoration of Architecture 
at Sapienza University of Rome. She is interested in integrated 
methods of non-contact surveying for architectural and archaeo-
logical heritage, and studies 3D surveying technologies and data 
modeling, and BIM/HBIM processes for the knowledge, manage-
ment, and communication. 

Flaminia Bardati
Architect and Phd, is Associate Professor of History of Architec-
ture at Sapienza University. Her research interests mainly focus 
on cross-cultural interactions between Italy and France from the 
15th to the early 20th century, especially on the role of cardi-
nals’ patronage of arts in the diffusion of Renaissance (research 
supported by a Getty Postdoctoral Fellowship in 2006). She has 
published extensively on these topics, with books essays and 
articles on national and international scientific reviews and, more 
specifically, on Sapienza’s seat of the School of Architecture in 
piazza Borghese and on the interiors of Gio Ponti’s School of 
Mathematics.

Maria Carla Ciacchella 
Conservation Scientist, PhD in Materials Engineering, is a con-
servation scientist mainly interested in material characterization, 
provenance studies and technologies applied to cultural heritage. 
Her professional activity deals with the analyses of the materials 
the construction techniques and the state of conservation.

Simone Castellan
Mathematician, currently PhD candidate, studied at “La Sapi-
enza” in Rome, where he completed his Bachelor (2018) and 
Master (2020) in Mathematics. He is currently PhD candidate at 
the University of Glasgow. His research focusses on algebra and 
representation theory, with applications to integrable systems. 
He is particularly interested in problems of quantization, both of 
Poisson and Poisson vertex algebras.

SCIENTIFIC PROFILES OF AUTHORS

Marianna Cortesi
Architect, Specialist and PhD student in Architectural Conser-
vation at Sapienza University, has recently obtained funding 
for research on recycled materials dedicated to architectural 
conservation. Her scientific interests focus on the conservation of 
modern architecture and on advanced sustainable policies for the 
conservation and maintenance of construction materials.

Alberto Coppo
Architect and PhD in History of Architecture at Sapienza Univer-
sity of Rome, is currently freelance professional in historical and 
archival investigation and has long collaborated with the Acca-
demia di San Luca of Rome in the reorganization of 20th century 
architects’ archives and with the Italian Ministry of Culture within 
the project “Censimento delle Architetture del Secondo Novecen-
to”. His scientific interests focus on the history of Italian modern 
architecture and on contemporary urban planning. 

Elisabetta Giorgi
Architect, qualified in Restoration of Monuments, has taken part 
in research activities at ICCROM-International Centre for the 
Study of the Preservation and Restoration of Cultural Property, in 
restoration sites for the consolidation of frescoes, experimenting 
hydraulic mortars. She has cooperated with IsCR-National Insti-
tute for Conservation and Restoration in educational sites and 
takes part to research and teaching activities of the Architecture 
courses at Sapienza University, where she is currently the techni-
cal manager of AStRe LabMat Laboratory for Historical Architec-
ture and Restoration.

Alfonso Ippolito
Architect, is Associate Professor in Architectural Survey and 
Descriptive Geometry at Sapienza University of Rome. He has 
worked on the survey of the Dome of St Peter at the Vatican, 
of the wooden model of Antonio da Sangallo the Younger of 
the same Basilica, of the Arch of Giano in Rome, of the Roman 
theatres in Merida (Spain), of the El Khaseneh theatre and royal 
tombs at Petra an of the theatre in Jarash (Jordania), of the dome 
of San Carlo ai Catinari in Rome. He is member and referee of 
Computer Applications and Quantitative Methods in Archaeology 
since 2012, of the editorial board of “Disegnare. Idee Immagini” 
since 2005.

Giuseppe Lanzo
Engineer and PhD, is currently Associate Professor at Sapienza 
University of Rome. He obtained his M.S. degree in Hydraulic 
Engineering in 1988 and his Ph.D. in Geotechnical Engineering in 
1995, from Sapienza University of Rome. Primary research inter-
ests are in geotechnical engineering, with focus on soil dynam-
ics. He has participated to national and international research 
projects and has been speaker and session leader in national and 
international conferences. He is the author or coauthor of more 
than 150 scientific publications.

Laura Liberatore 
Engineer and PhD, is Assistant Professor in Structural Engineering 
at Sapienza University of Rome. She has been Assistant Profes-
sor in Structural Mechanics (2008-2021) and holder of research 
grants (2002-2008). She obtained her PhD in Structural Engineer-
ing in 2002 and her master’s degree in civil Structural Engineering 
in 1996, with honors. Her research activity is mainly focused on 
the response of structures subjected to earthquakes. She partici-
pated to research projects as investigator or principal investigator 
and authored more than 70 scientific papers. 

Francesco Mancini 
Mechanical engineer and PhD, is Assistant professor in Technical 
Plants at Sapienza University of Rome since 2002. He has been 
carrying out research activities since 1999, focussing on proce-
dures and methodologies for the control and improvement of 
energy-environmental quality in buildings, with specific reference 
to the passive behaviour of the building envelope; on plant sys-
tems with low primary energy consumption that rely on renew-
able energy sources or high-efficiency plant systems; and on the 
definition of maintenance strategies to increase energy efficiency 
of the building heritage.

Ilaria Martella
Architect, graduated with honors in 2019 at Sapienza University 
of Rome, has obtained research grants from Sapienza University 
of Rome. Her professional interests focus on structural issues and 
architectural design. She is currently freelance architect and asso-
ciate for an architectural design and construction consulting firm.



368

Luisa Pandolfi 
Architect, graduated with honors in 2018 at Sapienza University 
of Rome is specialized in the analysis and restoration of historic 
and monumental buildings. Her professional activity mainly deals 
with the conservation of architectural materials and on the iden-
tification of structural criticalities.

Giada Romano 
Architect, graduated with honors in 2019 at Sapienza University 
of Rome, is currently PhD. Her specific scientific interests focus on 
technological-plant engineering aimed at improving energy-envi-
ronmental quality and at redeveloping the existing building heri-
tage. Her current research activity concerns the deep energy-zero 
emission renovation of buildings through the improvement of the 
processes of circularity of resources in urban districts. 

Maria Rosso
Architect and PhD, she has been postdoctoral fellow at the 
Research Center for Sciences Applied to the Protection of the En-
vironment and Cultural Heritage at Sapienza University of Rome 
has obtained a Master’s in Museum Didactics Centre of the Roma 
Tre University and has worked for CNR-National Research Center. 
She is currently cooperating within CITERA Department of Sapien-
za University focussing on adaptive reuse of historic buildings and 
perceptive comfort. 

Simona Salvo 
Architect, PhD and Specialist, is Associate Professor in Architec-
tural Conservation at Sapienza University of Rome. Her scientific 
interests are focused on restoration theory and technology, espe-
cially concerning contemporary architecture, and the dynamics 
of spread of the conservation culture throughout the world, and 
therefore carries out research and teaching activities in collab-
oration with international universities and cultural institutions. 
She has lectured extensively and has coordinated national and 
international research projects, among which the restoration of 
the Pirelli skyscraper in Milan (2002-2004). She has authored a 
number of scientific publications concerning architectural conser-
vation.

Maria Laura Santarelli 
Chemist and PhD, is Associate Professor at the Department of 
Chemical Engineering Materials and Environmental of Sapienza 
University of Rome. She has been Director of the CISTeC-Research 
Centre in Science and Technology for the Conservation of the His-
torical-Architectural Heritage of the same university (2013-2019) 
and is currently responsible for the Heritage-Lab of Sapienza 
University of Rome and member of the DTC Lazio-Technological 
District for the Cultural Heritage of the Lazio Region. She has 
authored over hundred scientific publications. 

Nicolò Sardo
Architect, PhD in Drawing and Survey of Heritage Building, is 
Associate Professor at the School of Architecture and Design, 
University of Camerino. His research activity is focused on com-
munication and representation of architecture, with a particular 
reference to photography and depiction through models. He also 
deals with visual communication and teaches Graphic Design. On 
these topics he has published numerous scientific contributions.

Luigi Sorrentino

Architect and PhD, is Associate Professor of Structural Engineer-
ing at Sapienza University of Rome. His main research interests 
are the investigation of the static and dynamic behavior of 
masonry and monumental structures, resorting to experimen-
tal, analytical, numerical and statistical tools, as well as their 
strengthening. He is member of the Working Group 1, Masonry 
Constructions, for the revision of Structural Eurocode 8, Earth-
quake-Resistant Constructions.

Chiara Turco
Bachelor’s Degree in Architectural Sciences with honors at Sapi-
enza University in March 2020 with a dissertation on Gio Ponti’s 
School of Mathematics, she is currently enrolled in the Master’s 
Program in Architecture (Conservation) at Sapienza University 
and has obtained an internship at the International Research 
Center on Contemporary Arts of the Venice Biennale.



369


	Forewards
	1. research as a means..
	2. An architectural gem
	3. the story of the buildings..
	4. architecture and mat..
	5. the interaction between build.
	6. future perpesctives
	appendix
	index

